
Planning Board Minutes, September 2, 2015
   

1 

Borough of Franklin Lakes 
Bergen County, New Jersey 

Planning Board Minutes 
September 2, 2015 

 
Meeting Called to Order at 7:30PM 
 
Open Public Meetings Statement: Read into the record by the Acting 
Chairman, Mr. Lauber. 
 
Salutation to the Flag 
 
Preamble: Read into the record by the Acting Chairman, Mr. Lauber. 
 
Fire Safety Announcement: Read into the record by the Acting 
Chairman, Mr. Lauber. 
 
Roll Call: Messrs. Lauber, Gostkowski, Pullaro, Lazerowitz, Linz, 
Sheppard (absent), Ochs (absent; arrived at 7:45PM), Ms. Mucci (absent; 
arrived at 8:08PM), Councilman Kahwaty, Chairwoman Vierheilig 
(absent), Mayor Bivona 
 
Also in Attendance: Mark Madaio Esq., Board Attorney; Ms. Maria 
Berardi, Planning Board Secretary; Ms. JoAnn Carroll, Recording 
Secretary 
 
Appointment of Board Attorney 
Mark Madaio sworn in as the Board Attorney by Acting Chairman Lauber; 
appointment term: 8/5/15 - 12/31/15. 
 
Mayor Bivona: stated he wanted to discuss the current Express Scripts deal with 
the Board, but first wanted to take care of any other business before the Board this 
evening. 
 
Oral Comments 
Mr. Mark Palus, MAP Engineering:  introduced himself; the item he wanted to 
discuss was not on the agenda; the discussion was in regards to the lot at the end of 
Pawnee Lane; oversized lot which his client is looking to subdivide; Mr. Palus 
handed out documents to the Board which showed two different subdivision 
options; in addition, Mr. Palus had a full size plan for the Board to view; property in 
question located at 639 Pawnee Lane; this address was represented in blue on the 
full size plan; lot is currently 80,316 sq. ft.; 40,000 sq. ft. is required; lot currently a 
little more than double what is required; Option A show in red provides a minimum 
of 40,000 sq. ft. of lot area for each lot; fairly irregular lot configuration; meets the 
letter of the ordinance; Option B is more conventional but results in the lot to be 
created at 28,500 sq. ft. which is deficient of the required 40,000 sq. ft.; lot width 



Planning Board Minutes, September 2, 2015
   

2 

deficiencies on both options; Mr. Palus focused on the lot area; asked the Board 
which option they felt would be more appropriate; understood the Board’s 
comments were not binding. 
 
Mayor Bivona: confirmed what drives Option B is the proximity to the 
house/existing structure. 
 
Mr. Palus: stated the lot line is located 25 ft. off the existing house so it is not 
possible to do it otherwise. 
 
Mayor Bivona: asked if the bottom option was the same as the top one with the 
exception of the hook on the end.  
 
Mr. Palus: stated it was a little bigger; one comes in straight back and the other 
wraps around the existing home. 
 
Mayor Bivona: asked the setback distance from the house. 
 
Mr. Palus: stated there is more of a setback from the house; 28-29 ft.; knows 
Franklin Lakes has seen a subdivision like this in the past in order to accomplish the 
lot area; it met the letter of the ordinance, but in his opinion, it didn’t make sense. 
 
Mr. Gostkowski: asked Mr. Palus how old the existing house was. 
 
Mr. Palus: stated he believed it was built in the 1960s. 
 
Mr. Pullaro: asked if the house would be demolished. 
 
Mr. Palus: stated the homeowner wants to stay in the home; doesn’t want to knock 
it down; if the home were located closer to the south it would make the application 
simpler. 
 
Mr. Pullaro: stated he did not remember a previous subdivision as the one Mr. 
Palus described. 
 
Mr. Gary Messina, Associate of Mr. Palus: stated he previously lived on Lake 
Drive; believes a thin piece of property was taken from another property behind it; 
was an odd shape. 
 
Mr. Gostkowski: asked if Option A provided 40,000 sq. ft. 
 
Mr Palus: stated yes; minimum 40,000 sq. ft. on each lot; we are deficient on lot 
width; there are some deviations there; from a purely lot area standpoint, it does 
meet the requirements. 
 
Mayor Bivona: asked what was behind the new lots; to the side and back of each. 



Planning Board Minutes, September 2, 2015
   

3 

 
Mr. Palus: stated they front on Navaho Trail; there are single family homes; the 
house on the side is well away from the property in question; its is down on Navaho; 
the one behind is a little more conventional in distance. 
 
Mr. Pullaro: asked if the lots behind and to the side were 40,000 sq. ft. 
 
Mr. Palus: stated yes they are; they are coming in at about an acre; lot area should 
be consistent with the neighborhood. 
 
Mayor Bivona: asked about a particular location on the map and what was located 
there. 
 
Mr. Palus: stated the lot line extends; beyond that lot line is a very large home; built 
upon the mountain; 9 acre lot; unfinished house. 
 
Mayor Bivona: asked if it was the Latushka property. 
 
Mr. Palus: stated yes. 
 
Mayor Bivona: asked if it was abandoned. 
 
Mr. Palus: stated yes. 
 
Mayor Bivona: stated the Board was familiar with this property; asked if the lot 
goes behind that house. 
 
Mr. Palus: stated yes; all the way to Navaho. 
 
Councilman Kahwaty: stated, while he acknowledges the deficiencies of both, he is 
trying to figure out how marketable the top option would be if granted. 
 
Mr. Palus: stated he would show a building envelope; looked at another option 
because that piece of land is basically wasted; asking for Board’s assistance as to 
which option would be a more appropriate path. 
 
Mr. Pullaro: stated the lot to the north is 1.8 acres; asked why Mr. Palus’ client has 
not spoken to the owner of that land. 
 
Mr. Palus: stated it would free them up; the house is not empty but the house is way 
down. 
 
Please note: Mr. Ochs has arrived at this point of the meeting: 7:45PM. 
 
Mr. Pullaro: asked how much of that land would they need. 
 



Planning Board Minutes, September 2, 2015
   

4 

Mr. Palus: stated they would need about a ¼ of it; depending on the angle of the lot 
lines; the lot width would still be way north of an acre. 
 
Mr. Pullaro: stated it may be attractive to that owner; he is not using it; the 
applicant should talk to the owner. 
 
Acting Chairman Lauber: stated he believes that is the most attractive avenue. 
 
Mr. Palus: stated that avenue has not been exhausted; in the event it wasn’t an 
option, and the applicant was working with the current property, and with the 
understanding what the Board suggests is not binding, asked what the Board is 
more concerned with; lot area or the typical lot line. 
 
Mr. Madaio: stated it is not down to those two options; the upper one is presented 
because it is absurd; either one still requires variances; the Board is not obligated to 
grant either one of them. 
 
Mr. Pullaro: stated, even if the Board approved the upper option, in effect it would 
still look like a ¾ acre lot with a house on it; you wouldn’t realize that the tail at the 
bottom belonged to the upper lot. 
 
Mr. Palus: stated it would meet the letter of the ordinance. 
 
Acting Chairman Lauber: stated you would have frontage. 
 
Councilman Kahwaty: asked for the street address on Navaho Trail because he 
lives in that area. 
 
Mr. Palus: stated he did not have a street address. 
 
Mayor Bivona: stated he believed the house was further up on Navaho. 
 
Mr. Palus: stated he appreciated the Board’s time. 
 
Brief discussion between Councilman Kahwaty and Board Secretary regarding 
minor corrections to minutes previously submitted. 
 
Board Discussion 
Mayor Bivona: discussed the Express Scripts arrangement; key provisions 
approved at the previous night’s Mayor and Council meeting; expect to sign deal 
sometime this week; close contact with Scripts; process going on for about two plus 
years; most importantly Scripts came to the Borough to discuss the property itself; 
190 acre property; we keyed in on it early and decided that we had to provide a lot 
of attention to it and use our resources; effectively a subdivision that will come 
before the Board; there may be some zoning changes required with respect to the 
remaining property; 105 acres after donation; believes the setbacks are okay; 



Planning Board Minutes, September 2, 2015
   

5 

cursory review done; more formal review to make sure no zoning problems related 
to the subdivision; by virtue we don’t create a non-conformity on the property; it is 
subject to Planning Board approval; believes it is rather a simple decision as it 
comes to drawing the line; copy of the press release distributed to the Board; has 
seen in the papers; on the back of the document submitted, there is a division 
shown; the left side where the building is located remains Scripts’ property; line 
goes down across by the parking lots and along one of the roads; to the right of that 
will become the Borough’s property; 84 acres; Scripts will donate 84 acres to the 
Borough; all the site work has been done; survey work has been done; Phase 1 has 
been done but only on one site; getting additional work done in the area to make 
sure it is free and clear of any environmental issues;  Phase 2 has been done as well; 
there are quite a few structures on the property; most of it is open space; very 
natural, wooded area; walking trails, etc.; breaks into two parcels; importantly, 
Express Scripts is donating the property to be permanently deed restricted as open 
space or recreational space; important to the Borough as well; will put it into the 
Borough’s Green Acres portfolio; all property improvements, including recreational 
fields and facilities, maintenance buildings and other buildings are included in the 
donation with the one exception of the day care center; described what was 
distributed in detail; the structures can be seen on the map; two baseball fields; 
small recreation building; next to that there are tennis courts and a basketball court, 
as well as, a handball court; all lit with LED lighting; fairly good condition. 
 
Councilman Kahwaty: asked if these facilities would be available for use by the 
Borough’s residents. 
 
Mayor Bivona: stated it will be a public park; controlled by the Borough; if it is 
green acres, the Borough can impose normal restrictions as to field use; can’t say 
that you would have to be a resident to use the space; the ball fields will operate the 
same as the ones currently on Pulis; permits can be applied for; moving north on the 
map there is the day care center; quad in the middle; parking lot in that area; 
moving down the road slightly there are 3 structures and a shed; maintenance 
facility where all types of equipment is stored; currently occupied by Montvale 
landscaping; Scripts located in Montvale before occupying their current space; part 
of arrangement with Scripts is that Montvale can keep their equipment in this 
structure; also the former site of the old package plant for septic; building 
apparently housed the equipment for this plant; sewered facility; sewers run to 
Mahwah; buildings included in the deal; the Borough gets them free and clear; once 
the deal is signed, Montvale has 30 days to remove their equipment; Montvale may 
possibly continue to rent the space from the Borough; Parsons Pond Road starts off 
of Old Mill and snakes through their campus and around and out to Wyckoff Avenue; 
doesn’t know exact distance; that road was paved a year ago; in good shape; will be 
dedicated to the Borough; preliminary talks with Boswell; may not conform in some 
respects; road will be a park road; 15 miles per hour speed limit; speed bumps on it; 
discourage as a cut-through. 
 
Mr. Gostkowski: asked if the Borough gets the entire road. 



Planning Board Minutes, September 2, 2015
   

6 

 
Mayor Bivona: stated yes; the Borough wants access to the park as well; there are 
utilities under the road; right of way; those utilities are water and sanitary sewer; 
the Borough will not own the utilities; Scripts will own the utilities but the Borough 
will give them an easement or right of way so they can service when necessary; 
along Glenn there is a small fire safety area; it is grassed over; no plans of making it 
a “real” road. 
 
Mr. Linz: asked if the road was to remain open. 
 
Mayor Bivona: stated it will be left the way it is for now; all decisions can be made 
down the road; there are a few bodies of water; big pond; 2 ponds in total; Dam 
Class 3; small dam lower down which was inspected on the big pond; two 
waterways; in the middle of the big pond is a big spray pump; operated out of one of 
the structures; closer to the Mahwah line; darker areas on the map are lots that are 
not part of the donation; intersection improvements done by the County; Scripts has 
talked to Mahwah about putting items on that property; has been told there is very 
little land to do anything; will probably go unused at this point; the Borough will 
take ownership of Parsons Park Drive; assessed value of $118 million; will be 
reduced to $85 million after property is rezoned. 
 
Please Note: Ms. Mucci has arrived at this point of the meeting: 808PM. 
 
Mayor Bivona: stated the agreement brings down the value of the property for 
assessed purposes; all tax appeals for 6 years have been withdrawn; the number 
was over $5 million; the Borough’s was much less; estimated liability in the $2-3 
million area that is forgiven; there is currently a day care center on the property; 
Scripts had the intention of giving this property to the Borough; the Borough is not 
prepared to be in the day care business; the Borough does not want to take the 
property without a good understanding of the business or having a potential 
partner to lay it off on; will figure out the best way to carve out the day care center; 
will deal with day care center but not at this time;  there will be a due diligence 
period; very important for Scripts that the day care center be available to their 
employees. 
 
Mr. Gostkowski: stated it is a gift but the Borough is losing money on it. 
 
Mayor Bivona: stated there is a cost; a whole fiscal analysis has been done; over 5.5 
years we had our own and external parties access the property and advise on where 
we should settle; the amount decided upon was in that range. 
 
Councilman Kahwaty: stated the anticipated increase in evaluation was discussed 
at the Mayor and Council meeting the previous night; nothing guaranteed; 
speculative. 
 



Planning Board Minutes, September 2, 2015
   

7 

Mayor Bivona: stated that was a good point; the dollar amount is $129 per average 
household to accept this donation and reduce the valuation; there is a cost to doing 
this; the Borough went through valuations recently; two years prior we have 
averaged about $15-20 million in appraised value in the Borough; this year our 
construction is up quite a bit; noticed general activity; assessed values are going up; 
added assessments this year will be in excess of $30 million; it offsets this “30”; we 
feel we can keep the taxes to individual homeowners at 2%. 
 
Mr. Ochs: asked if this plays into the larger goals for the Borough; Scripts could 
have sold off the land and it could have been subdivided. 
 
Mayor Bivona: stated discussions have happened over many years; Scripts 
management in St. Louis and here should be commended in a big way for working 
with the Borough; clearly Scripts had other options; Scripts chose a path which was 
less profitable but it really met their needs of cutting down the campus and reducing 
the overhead to make it economically feasible; $129 per tax payer but look how we 
saved the neighborhood; preserved whole side of the Borough; Scripts has make 
commitments to us and they are sticking around. 
 
Mr. Pullaro: stated he didn’t know if Scripts could have put housing there; not 
zoned residential; would have needed a use variance; they could have sued on 
affordable housing. 
 
Mayor Bivona: stated absolutely; it would have taken years upon years. 
 
Mr. Pullaro: asked about the amount of traffic on Parsons once it becomes a thru 
street. 
 
Mayor Bivona: stated the traffic has been considered; thought about not making it a 
thoroughfare; if we did that, and if someone from Scripts wanted to go to Wyckoff 
they would have to go to Old Mill; we want them to exit the same way as they do 
today; we don’t want people cutting through. 
 
Ms. Mucci: stated it happens now; it has been happening for the five years she has 
lived in the area; stated there is a potential for high speed without speed bumps; 
people see a wide open street and get to a speed of 30-45MPH. 
 
Mr. Pullaro: asked if the residents on Old Mill have complained about the traffic. 
 
Mayor Bivona: stated the traffic is there; it used to be worse when there were more 
employees at Scripts. 
 
Ms. Mucci: stated security has tried to curtail without much success. 
 
Mr. Gostkowski: asked if the street is adequate for traffic both ways. 
 



Planning Board Minutes, September 2, 2015
   

8 

Mayor Bivona: stated yes; plenty wide enough; Boswell is looking at it; want to 
keep it sort of a park road; 15 MPH and leave the speed bumps in place; natural park 
setting; open to suggestions on how to calm the traffic and cut through; not sure 
what the alternative would be. 
 
Ms. Mucci: stated it is not feasible at certain times to cut through. 
 
Mr. Gostkowski: asked if there is adequate parking for the use of the parks. 
 
Mayor Bivona: stated there are 2 parking lots; they are right by the ball field and 
service center; they are not huge; does not anticipate expanding them; you can get 
30-40 cars on either side; one of the fields may be of use for the older kids; fields are 
valuable; Scripts currently has under site plan, the ability to build another office 
building; they are forgoing that; they are giving up the right to build an additional 
structure; they do have the approval to add another parking lot; they are retaining 
this right; the property behind the homes on Woodside is a pretty large piece of land 
which is permanently deed restricted; Scripts agreed to that as well. 
 
Mr. Gostkowski: stated Western World was currently in one of the buildings; asked 
if they would be staying. 
 
Mayor Bivona: stated they have had no discussions with them; believe they are 
staying; the office space is what the office space is; it doesn’t change. 
 
Ms. Mucci: asked what the building was between the tennis and the fields. 
 
Mayor Bivona: stated it was a gym and would belong to the Borough. 
 
Mr. Pullaro: asked, in regards to the road, if the right of way would be taken on 
each side of the curb. 
 
Mayor Bivona: stated those are details that have not been worked out yet; the 
guard house is ours too; we are signing an agreement but there are still details that 
have to be worked out; we have to make sure the property is clean; we have no 
reason to believe that it is not. 
 
Acting Chairman Lauber: asked the Mayor about the daycare facility. 
 
Mayor Bivona: stated he had only visited the facility the previous day; could be an 
asset to the community but the Borough does not want to be in the day care 
business. 
 
Acting Chairman Lauber: asked what a triple net lease allows. 
 
Mayor Bivona: stated the day care center property is a valuable asset; we still 
haven’t settled on this piece of property; we are interested in it and Scripts is 



Planning Board Minutes, September 2, 2015
   

9 

interested in including it; if that is done, then the Borough has to figure out how to 
handle the day care center without actually being in the business; we could partner; 
we could possibly somehow lease the property to them for the day care service; due 
diligence still needs to be done. 
 
Mr. Pullaro: asked if only Scripts’ employees would use the day care center. 
 
Mayor Bivona: stated currently Scripts employees can only use the day care center; 
currently 190 spots of which only 70 are used by Scripts and their contractors; 
could possibly open up to Franklin Lakes residents; or for larger companies who 
want to move to the Borough; nothing to discuss at this time; no details on the day 
care center at this time. 
 
Mr. Pullaro: asked why Scripts was not interested in keeping the day care center. 
 
Mayor Bivona: stated it is part of their downsizing effort; they just went through a 
multi-billion dollar acquisition; looking to cut back and consolidate; no longer the 
corporate headquarters but an operational center; cost at this time is important to 
them; will keep the Board up to date as more details arise; the subdivision 
application will come before the Board. 
 
Borough Attorney Agreement Review 
Mr. Pullaro: had a few changes to the Board Attorney agreement; appointment date 
changed to August 5, 2015; deleted “approve” resolutions; the Board only has 
“regular” sessions; confirmed with Mr. Madaio that there would be no secretarial 
charges. 
 
Approval of Minutes: Councilman Kahwaty, Mayor Bivona 
October 15, 2014 
January 21, 2015 
February 4, 2015 
February 18, 2015 
March 18, 2015 
April 1, 2015 
June 3, 2015 
 
Mr. Pullaro: had a minor correction to the minutes of February 18, 2015. 
 
Voice vote taken: All in Favor 
 
Approval of Vouchers: Lazerowitz, Councilman Kahwaty 
Boswell Engineering 
FLK-2771  Franklin Lakes Realty LLC, $3,791.50 
FLK-2800  Toll Brothers   $552.00 
FLK-2820 Smith Subdivision  $368.00 



Planning Board Minutes, September 2, 2015
   

10 

Ayes: Mayor Bivona, Councilman Kahwaty, Gostkowski, Acting Chairman Lauber, 
Pullaro, Lazerowitz, Linz, Mucci, Ochs 
 
Motion to Adjourn:  Councilman Kahwaty, Acting Chairman Lauber 
All in Favor 
 
Meeting adjourned at 8:45PM. 
 
Respectfully submitted by: 
 
JoAnn Carroll 
Planning Board Recording Secretary 
September 8, 2015 
 


